FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/3/2025 2:52 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK 3 4 5 ZOU, Yi, 6 7 VS. 8 NGUYEN, GabriElle, and any other persons residing within the premises, 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeal No. 87622-8-I KCSC Case No. 24-2-18748-1 SEA PETITION FOR REVIEW OF ORDER **DISMISSING APPEAL, PURSUANT** RAP 13.4, 13.5

Case #: 1042591

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Respondent

Appellants.

Petitioner Gabrielle Nguyen, pro se, seeks discretionary review of the Washington Court of Appeals Division One's May 13, 2025, order denying her motion to modify the dismissal of her appeal (Exhibit 1).

II. DECISION SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' May 13, 2025, order denying her motion to modify the April 18, 2025, order dismissing her appeal in Case No. 87622-8-I (Exhibit 2).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals err by dismissing the appeal based on a correctable clerical defect in the designation of clerk's papers?

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW - 1

- 2. Did the Court of Appeals abuse its discretion by refusing to allow supplementation or correction of the record despite timely filings and good faith compliance by a pro se litigant?
- 3. Was the dismissal inconsistent with RAP 1.2(a), RAP 9.6, RAP 9.10, and GR 34(e) when no prejudice was shown?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants timely appealed a trial court order in King County Superior Court Case No. 24-2-18748-1 SEA. On April 7, 2025, within the deadline prescribed by RAP 9.6(a), Petitioner filed her designation of clerk's papers with the trial court clerk. The only issue noted was a formatting error in the designation form, which was accepted and acknowledged by the King County Clerk's Office as correctable. Petitioner also had an active fee waiver under GR 34(b), removing any filing fee obligation. Despite these circumstances, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal.

Petitioner filed a motion to modify the dismissal, citing RAP 9.6, RAP 9.10, RAP 1.2(a), and her right to correct clerical defects. The Court of Appeals denied the motion on May 13, 2025. Petitioner now seeks Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4 and RAP 13.5.

V. ARGUMENT

GabriElle Nguyen, et al, pro se appellants, respectfully moves the Supreme Court for Discretionary Review of the May 13, 2025, order of Division One of the Washington Court of Appeals (Case No. 87622-8-I) denying her Motion to Modify the court's April 18, 2025, order dismissing her appeal. Appellant requests review on grounds the undersigned believes the Court

of Appeals erred in declining to allow correction of a clerical defect in the record and dismissing the appeal outright. The grounds for this motion are as follows:

- 1. **Timeliness of Designation.** Appellant filed her designation of clerk's papers with the trial court clerk on April 7, 2025, within the 30-day deadline set by RAP 9.6(a) for filing a designation of clerk's papers. The designation included all required items (notice of appeal, relevant pleadings, and the written order being appealed) in accordance with RAP 9.6(c)(1)(A)–(D). Thus, the designation was timely and substantively compliant with the rule.
- Fee Waiver. The King County Superior Court granted appellant a waiver of filing fees, obviating any requirement to pay a fee for filing the designation or the appeal (Exhibit 3). The clerk's office should have honored the fee waiver (see GR 34(b); see also RAP 9.6(b) (permitting fees "in accordance with applicable law") and processed appellant's filing without additional charge). Under GR 34(e) and RAP 15.2(h), this waiver remains in effect unless the court finds that the party's financial condition has materially improved which it did not.
- 3. **Clerical Nature of Defect.** The only deficiency identified was clerical in nature. The King County Clerk's Office invited appellant to re-submit the designation using the correct form and sequential numbering, indicating that the error was fixable and non-prejudicial.
- 4. **Record Supplementation and Correction.** Under RAP 9.6 and RAP 9.10, an appellate court should allow supplementation or correction of the record. RAP 9.6(a) permits a party to supplement its designation of clerk's papers prior to filing the last brief, and RAP

- 9.10 provides that if an appellant has made a good-faith effort to provide the record, the court will not ordinarily dismiss for an incomplete record but may direct the transmittal of additional papers or correct the record (see *City of Seattle v. Torkar*, 25 Wn. App. 476, 482–83, 610 P.2d 379 (1980)).
- 5. Good Faith and Merits Review. While pro se litigants are expected to make good faith efforts to comply with procedural rules, Washington courts have repeatedly emphasized that minor technical defects should not prevent adjudication on the merits. See RAP 1.2(a); City of Seattle v. Torkar, 25 Wn. App. 476, 482–83 (1980); see also Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519 (1972). Here, the appellant acted diligently and promptly attempted to correct any perceived error. The Court of Appeals' dismissal elevated form over substance in a way that contravenes the purpose of the appellate rules and the judiciary's preference for resolution on the merits.
- 6. Abuse of Discretion and Review Criteria. The Court of Appeals' refusal to permit correction or supplementation of a curable formatting issue—despite timely filing, fee waiver, and communication with the trial court clerk—constituted a manifest abuse of discretion. See *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971) (abuse occurs when decision is based on untenable grounds or is manifestly unreasonable); *In re Marriage of King*, 66 Wn. App. 134, 831 P.2d 1094 (1992) (dismissal for incomplete record improper when supplementation is available). The Court's action violated RAP 1.2(a) and the principles set out in *Torkar* and *Haines*, which emphasize leniency toward good-faith procedural efforts by pro se litigants. This error substantially limited appellant's ability to obtain review and warrants discretionary review under RAP 13.5(b)(1) and (2).

VI. CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully asks the Court to grant review, reverse the dismissal, and remand with instructions to allow supplementation or correction of the clerk's papers so that the appeal may proceed on the merits.