FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/7/2025 8:00 AM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 1042591 (King County Superior Court Cause No. 24-2-18748-1 SEA)

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

YI ZOU,

Respondent,

 $\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{x}}$

GABRIELLE NGUYEN,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OF ORDER DISMISSING APPEAL

HARPER LAW OFFICES, Inc. P.S.

Joseph T. G. Harper WSBA# 34297 8310 S Park Ave Tacoma, WA. 98408 (253) 212-2450

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS

Respondent, Yi Zou, is the named Plaintiff in the original unlawful detainer matter before the King County Superior Court and was the landlord and property owner in said action.

Appellant, GabriElle Nguyen, is the named Defendant in the original unlawful detainer matter before the King County Superior Court and was a tenant.

II. DECISION BELOW

Appellant seeks to have the decision of the Court of Appeals denying her motion to modify the April 18. 2025 order terminating review of her petition reviewed by this Court.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in dismissing Appellant's petition for review?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was for unlawful detainer based upon the nonpayment of rent. Respondent rented property at 7817 SE 75th Pl, Mercer Island, WA. 98040 at a monthly rent of \$4,300.00 per month. Appellant had defaulted and failed to pay rent for part of May 2024 and June 2024. A 30-day notice to pay rent or vacate was then served upon Appellant pursuant to RCW 59.12.040 on June 25th, 2024. After expiration of the required time, Appellant failed to pay or vacate.

Following expiration of the notice, Appellant was served with a summons and complaint for unlawful detainer on July 29th, 2024. Her deadline to respond to the complaint was August 8th, 2024. Appellant submitted her pro se notice of appearance by the required deadline and a hearing to show cause why a writ of restitution should not issue was scheduled. Notice of hearing was provided to appellant.

At the initial show cause hearing, Counsel was appointed pursuant to RCW 59.18.640 and the hearing was continued. At the continued hearing set before the Honorable Judge

1

Marshall Ferguson, Appellant admitted to owing the rent and being liable for unlawful detainer. Judgment and an Order for a Writ of Restitution was entered on December 6th, 2024. Appellant then requested reasonable accommodation to delay enforcement of the writ of restitution until February 7, 2025, to which Respondent objected. Judge Ferguson requested additional briefing on the issue, stayed the writ of restitution, and scheduled a hearing that was held on January 9th, 2025.

Judge Ferguson denied the accommodation request concluding that there was insufficient evidence submitted to show why Appellant needed an accommodation, nor why she would need one delaying enforcement of the writ of restitution until February 7th, 2025. The stay on the writ was lifted, and the Appellant was later evicted.

During this time, Appellant sought to terminate her appointed counsel and to seek new counsel. Appellant also filed a motion for reconsideration to vacate the judgment. The motion, however, was never noted for hearing and therefore never properly brought before the Trial Court. Judge Ferguson's January 2025 order lifting the stay also pointed out that Appellant's motion for reconsideration was not being considered. Appellant then filed a petition for review with the Court of Appeals.

V. RESPONSE TO ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals did not Err in Terminating Review. As Respondent presented to the Court of Appeals, Appellant has not complied with this Court's orders, nor has she complied with the requirements of RAP 9.6. Specifically, Petitioner filed a designation of clerk's papers but she failed to provide the minimum contents as required under RAP 9.6(c), including providing for subnumbers as used in King County Superior Court, and specifying the full title of the pleading, instead simply stating "all declarations and exhibits," any hearing transcripts, any

2

video, etc." This is not what RAP 9.6 requires, nor does such assist the clerk's office with sufficient direction on what to transmit to the Court of Appeals.

"The party seeking review of a lower court's ruling is responsible for designating the necessary clerk's papers and exhibits." *State v. Firven*, 22 Wn. App. 703, 704-05, 591 P.2d 869, 870-71 (1979). The law is clear that Petitioner, even as a Pro se litigant, is held to the same standards as an attorney and must comply with all procedural rules on appeal. "[T]he law does not distinguish between one who elects to conduct his or her own legal affairs and one who seeks assistance of counsel -- both are subject to the same procedural and substantive laws." *In re Marriage of Olson*, 69 Wn. App. 621, 626, 850 P.2d 527, 530 (1993). Petitioner has not complied with RAP 9.6 as required, and the Court of Appeals properly dismissed her petition as abandoned for failing to comply with the rules by the required deadlines.

Additionally, Respondent also pointed out that it was unclear what Appellant was appealing. Appellant's Notice of Appeal suggested that she was appealing the trial court's inaction on her filed motion for reconsideration. The problem with this position is that Appellant never had such a motion set before the Court for consideration. King County Local Rule 7 governs motion practice before the Superior Court. King County Local Rule 7(b)(5) requires that a Notice of Court Date be filed with a motion. Petitioner never filed her Notice of Hearing, thus her motion was never before the Court. Petitioner's Notice of Appeal seeks to appeal "the inaction of This Court [the Trial Court] on Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Vacate Judgment Order..." This is contrary to RAP 2.2.

A party cannot appeal what has never been decided upon or argued. There is no record to review. Further, Petitioner cannot seek discretionary review under RAP 2.3 because the Superior Court has not committed error, departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial

3

proceedings, or certified any order. The error lies entirely with Appellant who failed to follow the Court Rules and properly note her motion before the Court in the first place.

VI. CONCLUSION

It was for the foregoing reasons that Respondent urged the Court of Appeals to deny

Appellant's motion to modify the April 18th, 2025 ruling terminating review and dismissing her

Appeal. These same reasons are why Respondent respectfully requests that this Court deny

discretionary review and affirm the Court of Appeals' Order terminating review and dismissal.

VII. CERTIFICATION

I certify that this Answer to Petition for Review of Order Dismissing Appeal contains 1060 words in compliance with RAP 18.17(c)(1).